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4. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to § 27 of the Exchange Act, 15

U.S.C. § 78aa and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).  Many of the acts and transactions alleged herein, including

the preparation and dissemination of materially false and misleading information, occurred in

substantial part in this Judicial District.  Additionally, the Company maintains a  principal executive

office in this Judicial District. 

5. In connection with the acts, conduct and other wrongs alleged in this complaint,

defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce,

including but not limited to, the United States mails, interstate telephone communications and the

facilities of the national securities exchange.

PARTIES

6. Plaintiff, Maurice Silber, as set forth in the accompanying certification, incorporated

by reference herein, purchased Zix securities at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period and

has been damaged thereby.

7. Defendant Zix is a Texas corporation with its principal executive offices located at

2711 North Haskell Avenue, Suite 2300, LB 36 Dallas, Texas 75204-2960.

8. Defendant John A. Ryan was, at all relevant times, the Company’s Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer. 

9. Defendant Steve M. York was, at all relevant times, the Company’s Chief Executive

Officer.

10. Defendant Ronald A. Woessner was, at all relevant times, the Company’s Senior Vice

President and General Counsel.
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11. Defendant Daniel S. Nutkis  was, at all relevant times, the Company’s Executive Vice

President and Chief Strategy Officer. 

12. Defendant Russell J. Morgan was, at all relevant times, the Company’s  Vice President

of Client Services.

13. Defendant Wael Mohamed was, at all relevant times, the Company’s  Vice President

of Global Sales. 

14. Defendant Dennis F. Heathcote was, at all relevant times, Vice President of Sales and

Marketing.

15. Defendants Ryan, York, Woessner, Nutkis, Morgan, Mohamed, and Heathcote are

collectively referred to hereinafter as the “Individual Defendants.”  During the Class Period, each of

the Individual Defendants, as senior executive officers and/or directors of Zix were privy to non-

public information concerning its business, finances, products, markets and present and future

business prospects via access to internal corporate documents, conversations and connections with

other corporate officers and employees, attendance at management and Board of Directors meetings

and committees thereof and via reports and other information provided to them in connection

therewith.  Because of their possession of such information, the Individual Defendants knew or

recklessly disregarded the fact that adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to, and were

being concealed from, the investing public.

16. Because of the Individual Defendants’ positions with the Company, they had access

to the adverse undisclosed information about the Company’s business, operations, operational trends,

financial statements, markets and present and future business prospects via access to internal

corporate documents (including the Company’s operating plans, budgets and forecasts and reports
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of actual operations compared thereto), conversations and connections with other corporate officers

and employees, attendance at management and Board of Directors meetings and committees thereof

and via reports and other information provided to them in connection therewith.   

17. It is appropriate to treat the Individual Defendants as a group for pleading purposes

and to presume that the false, misleading and incomplete information conveyed in the Company’s

public filings, press releases and other publications as alleged herein are the collective actions of the

narrowly defined group of defendants identified above.  Each of the above officers of Zix, by virtue

of their high-level positions with the Company, directly participated in the management of the

Company, was directly involved in the day-to-day operations of the Company at the highest levels

and was privy to confidential proprietary information concerning the Company and its business,

operations, growth, financial statements, and financial condition, as alleged herein.  Said defendants

were involved in drafting, producing, reviewing and/or disseminating the false and misleading

statements and information alleged herein, were aware, or recklessly disregarded, that the false and

misleading statements were being issued regarding the Company, and approved or ratified these state-

ments, in violation of the federal securities laws.

18. As officers and controlling persons of a publicly-held company whose securities were,

and are, registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to the Exchange

Act, and was traded on the NASDAQ and governed by the provisions of the federal securities laws,

the Individual Defendants each had a duty to disseminate promptly, accurate and truthful information

with respect to the Company’s financial condition and performance, growth, operations, financial

statements, business, markets, management, earnings and present and future business prospects, and

to correct any previously-issued statements that had become materially misleading or untrue, so that
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the market price of the Company’s publicly-traded securities would be based upon truthful and

accurate information.  The Individual Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions during the Class

Period violated these specific requirements and obligations.

19. The Individual Defendants participated in the drafting, preparation, and/or approval

of the various public and shareholder and investor reports and other communications complained of

herein and were aware of, or recklessly disregarded, the misstatements contained therein and

omissions therefrom, and were aware of their materially false and misleading nature.  Because of their

Board membership and/or executive and managerial positions with Zix, each of the Individual

Defendants had access to the adverse undisclosed information about Zix financial condition and

performance as particularized herein and knew (or recklessly disregarded) that these adverse facts

rendered the positive representations made by or about Zix and its business issued or adopted by the

Company materially false and misleading.

20. The Individual Defendants, because of their positions of control and authority as

officers and/or directors of the Company, were able to and did control the content of the various SEC

filings, press releases and other public statements pertaining to the Company during the Class Period.

Each Individual Defendant was provided with copies of the documents alleged herein to be misleading

prior to or shortly after their issuance and/or had the ability and/or opportunity to prevent their

issuance or cause them to be corrected.  Accordingly, each of the Individual Defendants is responsible

for the accuracy of the public reports and releases detailed herein and is therefore primarily liable for

the representations contained therein.

21. Each of the defendants is liable as a participant in a fraudulent scheme and course of

business that operated as a fraud or deceit on purchasers of Zix securities by disseminating materially
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false and misleading statements and/or concealing material adverse facts.  The scheme:  (i) deceived

the investing public regarding Zix business, operations, management and the intrinsic value of Zix

securities; and (ii) caused Plaintiff and other members of the Class to purchase Zix securities at

artificially inflated prices.

PLAINTI FF’S CLASS ACTION AL LEGATIONS

22. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure

23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of all those who purchased or otherwise acquired the

securities of Zix between October 30, 2003 and May 4, 2004, inclusive (the “Class Period”) and who

were damaged thereby.  Excluded from the Class are defendants, the officers and directors of the

Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate families and their legal representatives,

heirs, successors or assigns and any entity in which defendants have or had a controlling interest.

23. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is imprac-

ticable.  Throughout the Class Period, Zix’s securities were actively traded on the NASDAQ.  While

the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and can only be ascertained

through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are hundreds or thousands of members in

the proposed Class.  Record owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records

maintained by Zix or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail,

using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions.

24. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all members

of the Class are similarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal law that is

complained of herein.  
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25. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class and

have retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.

26. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the

questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

(a)  whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts as alleged

herein;

(b)  whether statements made by defendants to the investing public during the Class

Period misrepresented material facts about the business, operations and management of Zix;

and

(c)  to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper

measure of damages.

27. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as the

damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden of

individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the wrongs

done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGAT IONS

Background

28. Zix is a global provider of e-messaging protection and transaction services.  The

Company offers a range of solutions to protect organizations from viruses, spam and electronic

attack, as well as enabling secure electronic communications, such as e-mail encryption, e-prescribing,
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online doctor visits and electronic viewing of medical laboratory test results.  Zix helps organizations

of any size to streamline operations, mitigate risks and leverage their investment in electronic

communications.  The Company offers its services as a portfolio of advisory, managed, self-managed

and fully hosted solutions that enforce corporate security policies.  Zix solutions enable organizations

to enhance and optimize communication technology investments and increase productivity. The

Company’s business operations are supported by the ZixSecure Center, a fully redundant network

operations center dedicated to secure e-message processing.

Material ly False And Misleading
Statements Issued During The Class Period

29. The Class Period commences on October 30, 2003.  At that time, Zix announced

financial results for the third quarter ended September 30, 2003.  Zix recorded a third quarter, 2003

net loss of $6.5 million, or $0.29 per share, an improvement of 26 percent compared to a net loss of

$8.8 million, or $0.63 per share, for the corresponding quarter of 2002.  Revenues were $2.2 million

in the third quarter of 2003, an increase of 450 percent compared to $400 thousand in the third

quarter of 2002.  Cash and marketable securities balances as of September 30, 2003 were $16.6

million.  Commenting on the news, defendant Ryan stated:

“This third quarter represented a significant milestone in the growth
of our business[.]...We achieved excellent progress across all parts of
our business with new end-user orders and commitments to purchase
totaling $3.7 million. That number is up 37 percent from the second
quarter of 2003 and up more than 360 percent from the third quarter
in 2002. End-user order backlog as of Sept. 30, 2003, has grown to
approximately $8 million, which includes deferred revenues on the
company’s consolidated balance sheet. In addition, we completed the
acquisition of PocketScript in July and Elron Software early in
September and we saw a cash infusion of almost $9 million
predominately from warrant and option exercises. With these events
now behind us, we anticipate the fourth quarter total of new end-user
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orders and commitments to purchase to range between $6.25 million
and $7 million. 

With these acquisitions, we are now positioned with very strong
offerings in three key areas -- secure e-messaging, protection
management (including anti-spam, anti-virus, and Web filtering), and
care delivery (e-prescribing). The protection management market is
already well established -- IDC predicts there will be more than $800
million spent on email scanning and Web filtering solutions in 2004
and the market is expected to grow at 30 percent to 35 percent over
the next few years. Both secure e-messaging and care delivery are
emerging as high-growth markets. Up to now, we have established
ZixCorp as a leader for secure messaging in healthcare by signing
contracts with more than 160 customers in the past two years. With
care delivery, we are at a unique time in the market when for the first
time the benefits are well documented, the technology exists and can
be implemented, and our PocketScript technology simply does a better
job than the existing methods.”
 

30. On October 30, 2003, Zix hosted a conference call and discussed the Company’s

quarterly results.  Commenting on the results, defendant Ryan stated:

Overall, the third quarter of 2003 was probably the most significant
quarter in the company’s recent history. I can also confirm it was the
most hectic and active quarter we’ve had in my almost two years here
at Zix Corp. In other words, we were really, really busy.

***

Well in Q3, 2003, we achieved $3.7 million, up 350% from last year
and an increase of 37% over Q2 of 2003. Although excellent progress,
I am especially excited by the company’s position in the market and
the potential in these markets that we’re now targeting.

***

We also want to be the market leader in e-prescribing and we want to
drive the evolution of care services for the industry by driving new
application and services to these wireless devices.

We also intend to replicate our success model in other vertical
markets that leverage the same requirements and needs as health care.
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Industries such as insurance and financial services or state and local
government. I believe we have the technology, the team and the
opportunity to achieve these goals.

On the cash front I’d like to make a few comments about our cash
position and our current burn rate.

As you can see from the published results we finished the quarter with
$16.6 million in cash and marketable securities and for the record we
are not seeking cash at this time. We also have adequate cash to meet
our needs, and we also have adequate potential cash in the many
warrants or options that are currently in the money.

As always, we continue to monitor the situation, however we are very
comfortable at this time with our position.

Currently, our expense burn rate is approximately $8 million a quarter
with a capital need of approximately $500,000 per quarter. We
estimate that synergy from the combined entity should produce
meaningful annual savings in 2004 of potentially up to $500,000 per
quarter.

***

Total customer commitments for the quarter were $3.7 million versus
approximately $800,000 in the same period and $2.7 million in Q2 of
2003. This represents a greater than 350% increase over 2002, and a
37% increase over Q2, 2003.

Total revenues exceeded $2 million up from the Q2, 2003 number of
just approximately $1 million. This represents in excess of 100%
growth quarter-over-quarter.

This quarter for the first time, we have provided you with customer
commitment guidance. It is my expectation that we will provide you
with more specific guidance in Q1, 2004.

***
As I mentioned earlier, we have grown the team from 13 people to 30
and we are now planning our deployment capacity. Our current goal
is to deploy 1,000 physicians by the end of the year, and then to scale
a deployment capacity of at least 1,000 physicians a month in early
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2004 with a goal of then supporting up to 2,000 physicians a month
later in the year.

Of course, these targets will be adjusted accordingly, based on
demand. We do have good experience in the team, as we have
deployed over 500 physicians to date, and in fact, they processed over
65,000 transactions over the months of August or September.

***

So overall, for the quarter, we expect to achieve customer
commitments in Q4 of 2003 of $6.25 million to $7 million. Clearly, if
we hit the high end of each of the business groups, we could exceed
the $7 million however, our overall guidance for the quarter is $6.25
million to $7 million. At $6.25 million, this would represent an
increase of over 65% over Q3 2003 and 290% growth rate over Q4
of 2002.

31. On October 31, 2003, Zix filed its quarterly report with the SEC on Form 10-Q.  The

Company’s Form 10-Q was signed by defendant York and reaffirmed the previously announced

financial results.

32. On January 30, 2004, Zix announced it had acquired substantially all of the assets of

MyDocOnline(TM), a subsidiary of Aventis Pharmaceuticals, the North American pharmaceuticals

business of Aventis and a leading provider of secure Web-based communications, disease

management, and laboratory information solutions for $6.9 million in Zix stock.  Additionally, Aventis

had signed a three-year contract representing a minimum commitment of $4 million with Zix for

various services, initially consisting of patient educational services in various disease classes.  The

acquisition enabled Zix to enhance its care delivery offerings to include online doctor visits, disease

management, lab ordering, and reporting services.  Commenting on the news, defendant Ryan stated:

“The addition of MyDocOnline to our existing suite of secure
e-communications and transaction capabilities is part of the strategy
that the company has been working towards for the last 18
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months[.]...These solutions combined with our existing e-prescribing
and compliance solutions provide us with a complete portfolio of
solutions that are not only attractive to patients and physicians, but
also provide significant benefits to providers, pharmacy benefit
managers, pharmacies, and pharmaceutical companies. It enables
ZixCorp to be uniquely positioned to capitalize on current trends in
healthcare for improved care, improved service, and reduced cost. It
is clear to me that the foundations we built with our SysTrust-certified
ZixSecure Center(TM), secure communications services, and now
over 200 healthcare customers, provides us with the unique ability to
provide a more effective and secure means of communication within
the healthcare community.”

33. Moreover the Company, in its press release, stated:

“We are pleased that ZixCorp intends to further the goals that we
originally set out for MyDocOnline: to enhance communications and
disseminate information between physicians and patients,” said Kirk
Schueler, Aventis senior vice president and former president and CEO
of MyDocOnline, Inc. “We believe that a patient who communicates
frequently with his or her physician is better informed and will be more
compliant with treatment regimens, which can result in improved
health.”

Daniel S. Nutkis, president, Care Delivery Solutions for ZixCorp said,
“With the assets that we now have, ZixCorp can truly advance the
way healthcare is delivered both in quality and efficiency. For
example, during an office visit a physician can electronically order a
laboratory test, electronically receive the results and annotate them,
provide detailed instructions for the patient, and submit a prescription
based on the patient’s formulary to the patient’s preferred pharmacy
so it is immediately available for pick up. The patient is notified
electronically and can access this information through our secure
online care centers. All this can happen without having to schedule
another appointment or wait the additional time to receive the results
by mail or call the physician with follow-up questions. In addition,
patients can be easily provided with educational material for deeper
insight into their medical conditions and enrolled in a disease
management program. With these solutions, ZixCorp can more
effectively monitor outcomes, measure compliance, and ensure a more
efficient and effective use of healthcare resources.”
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Under the terms of the agreement, ZixCorp acquired substantially all
of the assets and business of MyDocOnline by issuing 583,411 shares
of ZixCorp’s common stock, valued at $6.9 million and three year
warrants to purchase 145,853 shares of ZixCorp’s common stock.
The share price was determined using a 20 day average prior to
closing for a value of $11.83 and the warrant exercise price at 110
percent with a strike price of $13.01. ZixCorp is required to prepare
and file a registration statement covering the resale of the shares and
warrants delivered at closing. ZixCorp anticipates that registration of
the shares will become effective in approximately 100 days.

Additionally, Aventis has signed a three-year service contract
representing a minimum commitment of $4 million to ZixCorp for
various ZixCorp services, initially consisting of patient educational
services.

The services will be delivered in minimum amounts of $1 million, $1
million and $2 million in years one, two, and three, respectively. The
$4 million has been paid upfront and in full by Aventis.

In connection with the acquisition, Aventis has loaned ZixCorp $3
million due March 15, 2007 with an annual interest rate of 4.5
percent. The note is payable in either cash or ZixCorp common stock
at the option of ZixCorp. Additionally, at Aventis’ discretion, the note
may be satisfied in the form of additional services provided to Aventis
during the term of the note.

34. On February 3, 2004, Zix announced financial results for the fourth quarter ended Dec.

31, 2003.  Zix recorded a fourth quarter, 2003 net loss of $8.2 million, or $0.29 per share, compared

to a net loss of $0.39 per share, for the corresponding quarter of 2002.  Revenues were $2.0 million

in the fourth quarter of 2003, an increase of 266 percent compared to $546,000 in the fourth quarter

of 2002.  Cash and marketable securities balances as of Dec. 31, 2003 were $13.9 million.

Commenting on these results, defendant Ryan stated:

“We are extremely pleased with the continued momentum and growth
in our business orders as illustrated by our fourth quarter order
bookings[.]...Our order bookings achievement of $7.3 million was an
outstanding 356 percent improvement compared to the fourth quarter
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2002. Additionally, for the full year 2003 we grew order input more
than five fold verses total 2002 order input and ended 2003 with a
record backlog of $13 million. The success was across both our major
product lines with continued strength in healthcare but also with
success expanding into other verticals.

***

We embark upon 2004 with a robust portfolio of products that have
greater depth and breadth than a year ago,” continued John Ryan.
“We expect the order growth to continue into the first quarter 2004
and estimate that we will achieve new order bookings between $11.5
and $13.0 million in the first quarter of which the recently announced
Aventis order for $4.0 million is already closed and included.”

35. On February 3, 2004, Zix hosted a conference call and discussed the Company’s

quarterly results.  Commenting on the results, defendant Ryan stated: 

We are extremely happy with both the capabilities of these products,
however, we wanted to ensure that the first released under ZixCorp
name was the best-quality released in the history of these products. As
such, we will be releasing message inspector in the next couple of
weeks and web inspector later this quarter. We want our existing and
new customers to recognize that we only release the highest quality
in our products, and the feedback from our install base has been very
positive to date.

Despite this change in plan, the group is within $100,000 to $200,000
of plan and we expect great things in Q2 2004 and beyond.

***

With now a full quarter under our belt, we have set our goals on
deployment for Q1, Q2 and the year. We expect to have deployed
2,000 physicians by the end of Q1, 2004. And our goal is 4,000 by the
end of Q2.

This is basically the rollout of our existing backlog of committed
physicians in the northeast. Clearly, we expect to sign new customers
and grow our position in the market. It is our goal to have deployed
10,000 physicians by the end of 2004. Given we have 4,000 on order
today, I believe this goal is very achievable.
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***

Basically, our goal right now is simple: Deploy as many physicians as
possible. In addition to the 4,000 e-prescribing physicians that we
have already had prepaid, we have acquired a base of approximately
4,000 to 5,000 physicians on the e-labs results service known as Dr.
Chart.

We have also acquired almost 300 doctors using the on-line
doctor-visit application as well. Overall, this represents almost 10,000
physicians that will be utilizing one of ZixCorp’s capabilities. This is
the base we are now focusing on to cross-sell and ensure deployment
as well as significant and continued use. We have also increased our
investment in sales and we will continue to be aggressive and pursuing
additional states during the first half of 2004.

***

Now for some guidance for the first quarter of 2004. I expect orders
to be in the range of 11.5 million to 13 million in the quarter. This
represents an increase of 4.2 million to 5.7 million over Q4 of 2003.
Included in the Q1 projection is the 4 million adventist award that we
have already been paid for.

We expect revenue this quarter to be approximately 2.8 million to 3
million. This will represent an almost 50% increase over Q4 2003 and
we are just now seeing the revenue growth benefit of our backlog.

***

Our current cash position has also helped enable this decision. With
the addition of 8.8 million in warrants and option exercises and the $3
million from the adventist loan, we expect to finish Q1 with
approximately 22 million in cash. This is more than adequate to fund
our opportunity and it does not assume any more cash flowing to the
company through warrant or option exercises during the quarter.

36. On April 1, 2004, Zix announced the following appointments, Brad Almond had been

promoted to the position of vice president finance and administration and chief financial officer.

Daniel Sands, M.D., had joined Zix as vice president and chief medical officer.  Sands would report
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to Daniel Nutkis, who had been promoted to executive vice president and chief strategy officer.

Commenting on this news, defendant Ryan stated:

“These appointments are part of our continuing strategy to shape and
organize our company with the resources we need to capitalize on the
growth and opportunity we see in the market[.]...Each appointment
is a key part of our management growth plan.

Brad Almond’s business skills coupled with his strong background in
auditing and corporate finance in high-growth environments are the
perfect mix for the top finance post. Dan Nutkis’ market-leading
expertise of the strategic landscape and marketplace dynamics will
ensure we stay on the right path and a step ahead. Daniel Sands is an
internationally recognized leader in the area of clinical computing and
patient and clinician empowerment through the use of computer
technology. With Dr. Sands’ appointment to the post of chief medical
officer, I can’t think of a better background to assist the company in
its development of services to enhance physician-to-patient capabilities
and efficiency.

In addition, the company announced that Steve York, ZixCorp’s
current senior vice president, chief financial officer and treasurer, will
assist the company in a consulting capacity for the next six
months[.]...For 14 years, Steve has been a consistent executive
presence for the many changes the company has experienced. The
company appreciates his many contributions and we wish him well in
his future endeavors.”

37. The statements contained in ¶¶ 29-36 were materially false and misleading when made

because failed to disclose or indicate the following: (1) that the Company’s deployment of e-

prescription services was languishing; (2) that the Company seriously underestimated the hurdles of

deploying e-prescription services in medical offices that lack up to date IT infrastructure; (3) as a

result of these factors, the Company’s deployment rate of 1,000 physicians a month was unattainable;

and (4) as a consequence of the foregoing the Company’s projections lacked in any reasonable basis.

The Truth Begins to Emerge
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38. On May 4, 2004, Zix announced financial results for the first quarter ended March 31,

2004.  The Company, in its press release, stated:

ZixCorp recorded first quarter revenues of $2,843,000, an increase of
345% compared to $639,000 in the first quarter of 2003. ZixCorp
recorded a first quarter 2004 net loss of $10.7 million, or $0.35 per
share, compared to a net loss of $6.8 million, or $0.36 per share, for
the corresponding quarter of 2003. Excluding one-time charges,
ZixCorp recorded a net loss of $9.0 million, or $0.30 per share. Cash
and marketable securities balances as of March 31, 2004, were $24.1
million. The company booked new orders of $9.2 million in the
quarter compared to $1.9 million in the first quarter of 2003
representing a 384% increase year on year.

“The first quarter of 2004 was an exceptionally busy and pivotal
quarter in ZixCorp’s history,” said John Ryan, chairman and chief
executive officer of ZixCorp. “We completed the acquisition and
integration of MyDocOnline(TM), won selection by Microsoft for the
groundbreaking WellPoint initiative, realigned resources towards
more customer-facing roles, signed our first major pharmaceutical
customer, released our next-generation anti-spam product, and
maintained the progress in our communication protection line of
business. In all, we asked the ZixCorp team to deliver across a broad
spectrum of initiatives and I am very proud of our results.”

***

Financial Highlights for the Quarter 

Revenues: Revenues were $2.8 million in the first quarter 2004, which
was a 45% increase over the fourth quarter 2003. The revenue
increase was across all product lines: secure messaging, Message
Inspector/Web Inspector(TM), PocketScript(TM), and from the
addition of the MyDocOnline products. For the quarter,
MyDocOnline products contributed $123,000 in revenue from two
months of activity.

Costs: In the first quarter, ZixCorp’s operating costs totaled $13.6
million, which included $3.0 million in non-cash items. This is
compared with total operating costs (cash and non-cash) of $10.2
million in the fourth quarter 2003. The increase in costs is from the
inclusion of MyDocOnline for two months, which had an impact of
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$1.7 million, one-time charges for employee termination costs of $1.5
million, and another one-time charge of $152,000 of in-process R&D
expenses related to the MyDocOnline acquisition. The termination
charges are part of an initiative to shift resources and investment from
overhead areas to positions closer to the customer, such as sales,
deployment specialists, and customer service representatives. The net
savings from this initiative are more than $2.2 million a year that will
be utilized for the customer-facing increases mentioned earlier.

Balance Sheet: At quarter-end, the company’s cash and marketable
securities totaled $24.1 million. Cash used in the quarter was affected
by the acquisition of MyDocOnline, which had net cash utilization
from two months of operations of approximately $1.3 million. This
was in line with expectations and the company plans for rapid
improvement in the cash flow from the acquisition over the next few
quarters. The expenditures in the first quarter for property and
equipment totaled $883,000, which was ahead of the company’s
normal run rate of $500,000 a quarter.

The increase was primarily related to additional investment in the
ZixSecure Center. With this investment, ZixCorp can now transfer
data center activity for MyDocOnline to the ZixSecure Center, which
will result in a savings of $1.0 million a year as MyDocOnline had
previously been paying a third party for data center services. Transfer
of service to the ZixSecure Center will be completed in the second
quarter of 2004.

In the first quarter, the company had stock option and warrant
exercises by employees, former employees, and private placement
investors, which delivered $11.0 million in cash and resulted in
1,403,647 shares of common stock being issued. Additionally,
subsequent to March 31, 2004, ZixCorp received another $9.3 million
in cash from warrant and option exercises and an additional 868,486
shares of common stock were issued.

39. This news shocked the market.  Shares of Zix fell $2.12 per share or 15.58 percent

on May 5, 2004, to close at $11.49 per share.  On the following day, shares of Zix fell an additional

$2.60 per share or 22.63 percent to close at $8.89 per share.

UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS
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40. The market for Zix’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all relevant

times.  As a result of these materially false and misleading statements and failures to disclose, Zix’s

securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.  Plaintiff and other members of

the Class purchased or otherwise acquired Zix securities relying upon the integrity of the market price

of Zix’s securities and market information relating to Zix, and have been damaged thereby.

41. During the Class Period, defendants materially misled the investing public, thereby

inflating the price of Zix’s securities, by publicly issuing false and misleading statements and omitting

to disclose material facts necessary to make defendants’ statements, as set forth herein, not false and

misleading.  Said statements and omissions were materially false and misleading in that they failed to

disclose material adverse information and misrepresented the truth about the Company, its business

and operations, as alleged herein.

42. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized in

this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the damages

sustained by plaintiff and other members of the Class.  As described herein, during the Class Period,

defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false or misleading statements about

Zix’s business, prospects and operations.  These material misstatements and omissions had the cause

and effect of creating in the market an unrealistically positive assessment of Zix and its business,

prospects and operations, thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially

inflated at all relevant times.  Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements during the Class

Period resulted in plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at

artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein.

ADDITIONAL SCI ENTER ALLE GATIONS
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43. As alleged herein, defendants acted with scienter in that defendants knew that the

public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were materially

false and misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or disseminated to the

investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced in the issuance or

dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of the federal securities laws.

As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, defendants, by virtue of their receipt of information reflecting

the true facts regarding Zix, their control over, and/or receipt and/or modification of Zix allegedly

materially misleading misstatements and/or their associations with the Company which made them

privy to confidential proprietary information concerning Zix, participated in the fraudulent scheme

alleged herein.

44. Defendants knew and/or recklessly disregarded the falsity and misleading nature of

the information which they caused to be disseminated to the investing public.  The ongoing fraudulent

scheme described in this complaint could not have been perpetrated over a substantial period of time,

as has occurred, without the knowledge and complicity of the personnel at the highest level of the

Company, including the Individual Defendants.

45. During the Class Period and with the stock trading at inflated prices, defendant York

sold 105,500 shares for proceeds of $1,208,786.  Defendant Woessner sold 141,173 for proceeds of

$1,498,764.  Defendant Nutkis sold 91,460 for proceeds of $848,340.  Defendant Morgan sold

20,000 for proceeds of $178,800.  Defendant Mohamed sold 32,980 for proceeds of $296,820.

Defendant Heathcote sold 9,800 for proceeds of $88,592.  In summary, during the Class Period

insiders sold 400,913 shares for proceeds of $4,120,102.
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FIRST CLAIM

Violation Of Section 10(b) Of
The Exchange Act Against And Rule 10b-5

Promulgated Thereunder Against Al l Defendants

46. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully set

forth herein.

47. During the Class Period, defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of conduct

which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing public,

including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (ii) cause Plaintiff and other

members of the Class to purchase Zix securities at artificially inflated prices.  In furtherance of this

unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, defendants, and each of them, took the actions set forth

herein.

48. Defendants (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue

statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements

not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which operated as a fraud

and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to maintain artificially high

market prices for Zix securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.

All defendants are sued either as primary participants in the wrongful and illegal conduct charged

herein or as controlling persons as alleged below.

49. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means or

instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a continuous

course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about the business, operations and future

prospects of Zix as specified herein.                                 
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  50. These defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, while in

possession of material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a course

of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of Zix value and performance and

continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or the participation in the making of,

untrue statements of material facts and omitting to state material facts necessary in order to make the

statements made about Zix and its business operations and future prospects in the light of the

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as set forth more particularly herein, and

engaged in transactions, practices and a course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon

the purchasers of Zix securities during the Class Period.

51. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability, and controlling person liability,

arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level executives and/or

directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the Company’s management team

or had control thereof; (ii) each of these defendants, by virtue of his responsibilities and activities as

a senior officer and/or director of the Company was privy to and participated in the creation,

development and reporting of the Company’s internal budgets, plans, projections and/or reports;

(iii) each of these defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and familiarity with the other

defendants and was advised of and had access to other members of the Company’s management team,

internal reports and other data and information about the Company’s finances, operations, and sales

at all relevant times; and (iv) each of these defendants was aware of the Company’s dissemination of

information to the investing public which they knew or recklessly disregarded was materially false and

misleading.
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52. The defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions of

material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to

ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them.  Such defendants’

material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly and for the purpose

and effect of concealing Zix operating condition and future business prospects from the investing

public and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities.  As demonstrated by defendants’

overstatements and misstatements of the Company’s business, operations and earnings throughout

the Class Period, defendants, if they did not have actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and

omissions alleged, were reckless in failing to obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from

taking those steps necessary to discover whether those statements were false or misleading.

53. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and misleading information and

failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of Zix securities was artificially

inflated during the Class Period.  In ignorance of the fact that market prices of Zix publicly-traded

securities were artificially inflated, and relying directly or indirectly on the false and misleading

statements made by defendants, or upon the integrity of the market in which the securities trades,

and/or on the absence of material adverse information that was known to or recklessly disregarded

by defendants but not disclosed in public statements by defendants during the Class Period, Plaintiff

and the other members of the Class acquired Zix securities during the Class Period at artificially high

prices and were damaged thereby.

54. At the time of said misrepresentations and omissions, Plaintiff and other members of

the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true.  Had Plaintiff and the other

members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding the problems that Zix was
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experiencing, which were not disclosed by defendants, Plaintiff and other members of the Class would

not have purchased or otherwise acquired their Zix securities, or, if they had acquired such securities

during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the artificially inflated prices which they paid.

55. By virtue of the foregoing, defendants have violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange

Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

56. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and the

other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases and sales

of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.

SECOND CLAIM

Violation Of Section 20(a) Of
The Exchange Act Against the Individual Defendants

57. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully set

forth herein.

58. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Zix within the meaning of

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein.  By virtue of their high-level positions, and their

ownership and contractual rights, participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s operations

and/or intimate knowledge of the false financial statements filed by the Company with the SEC and

disseminated to the investing public, the Individual Defendants had the power to influence and control

and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of the Company, including

the content and dissemination of the various statements which Plaintiff contend are false and mis-

leading.  The Individual Defendants were provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the
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Company’s reports, press releases, public filings and other statements alleged by Plaintiff to be

misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent

the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected.

59. In particular, each of these defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the

day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, is presumed to have had the power to control

or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged herein, and

exercised the same.

60. As set forth  above, Zix and the Individual Defendants each violated Section 10(b) and

Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint.  By virtue of their positions as

controlling persons, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange

Act.  As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and other members

of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of the Company’s securities during

the Class Period.

WHEREFORE , Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:

(a)  Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating Plaintiff as Lead

Plaintiff and certifying Plaintiff as a class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure and Plaintiff’s counsel as Lead Counsel;

(b)  Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class

members against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of

defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;

(c)  Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and
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(d)  Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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JURY TRIAL DEMAND ED

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

Dated: September 16, 2004 BARON & BUDD, P.C.
Dallas, Texas

__________________________________________
Randall K. Pulliam

3102 Oak Lawn Avenue, Suite 1100
Dallas, Texas 75219-4281
Telephone: (214) 521-3605
Facsimile: (214) 520-1181

MURRAY,  FRANK &  SAILER LLP
Eric J. Belfi
275 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10016
Telephone: (212) 682-1818
Facsimile: (212) 682-1892

SHEPHERD, FINK ELMAN, M ILLER
& SHAH,  LLC

Patrick A. Klingman
One Lewis Street
Hartford, CT 06103-2509
Telephone: (860) 246-0600
Facsimile: (860) 246-0700

GLANCY BINK OW & GOLDB ERG LLP
Michael Goldberg
Dale MacDiarmid
1801 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 311
Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: (310) 201-9150
Facsimile: (310) 201-9160

Att orneys for Plaintiff


